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Oakland radio station KDIA – known as “Lucky 13 Boss Soul Radio”—was born in the 
1920s and left the airwaves in the 1990s, and is the recipient of the Legendary Station 
Award from the Bay Area Radio Museum and Hall of Fame for 2018. !is is a look 
back on its long and colorful history. 

It may be hard to imagine, but radio in the San Francisco is well over a century old at this point. 

If you can imagine yourself on this date one-hundred years ago, without your smartphone, 
without Wi!Fi but with the 1918 equivalent – that fanciful high-tech bit of magic called 
“the wireless” – then you may be considering a trip to downtown Oakland, to a small shop 
operated by the Warner brothers, where you can buy the parts required to build yourself a 
wireless receiver or, if you were truly adventurous, an actual, working spark transmitter. 

"ese Warner brothers, Sta#ord W. and Eugene N., were unrelated to Harry, Albert, Sam, 
and Jack, their counterparts of later (and somewhat greater) Hollywood motion picture 
fame, but nonetheless had a signi$cant and lasting impact on the history of entertainment  
and community involvement. 

Some forty years after Sta#ord and Eugene launched their %edgling radio enterprise near 
Oakland’s Lake Merritt, their business had grown from selling parts to fellow hobbyists to 
operating a small continuous-wave amateur station which, in turn, grew into a commercial 
broadcasting station that spawned its own “Radio Village” and developed into a strong, substantial voice for the Eastbay’s 
emerging African-American community in the post-World War II era. 

"e station, which began as experimental 6XAM in 1920, and was licensed commercially as KLS in 1922 before 
becoming KWBR (for “Warner Brothers Radio”) in 1945, eventually attracted the attention of Egmont Sonderling, a 
German immigrant who had built a small but powerful regional network of stations at mid-century that programmed 
mostly rhythm-and-blues music – the genteel term for what was generally known in the industry as “race records” – 
directed toward a predominately black audience. 

Sonderling bought KWBR in July 1959 for $550,000 and re-christened it as KDIA in September of the same year to 
mirror its pioneering sister station, WDIA in Memphis, Tenn.  With Walter Conroy installed as its general manager, 
KDIA rapidly re$ned its schedule and, by the middle of 1961, was broadcasting news, music and other programs 
throughout the day aimed speci$cally at African-American listeners. 

The Golden Years: KWBR 

Into the late 1940s, KWBR, operating at 1310 kilocycles on the AM dial as an independent station without network ties, 
relied on blocks of recorded music and local entertainers for its programming, much of it targeting transplanted listeners 
tuning in for a taste of home. A representative sample from the Oakland Tribune’s radio log from January 1948 $nds 
KWBR’s schedule $lled with “Corriere del Mattino,” “Mi Rancho,” “Voice of Portugal,” and “Echo of Italia,” along with 
standard fare such as “Musical Echoes,” “Luncheon Lounge” and “Demand Performance.” 

Soon, however, programs entitled “Sepia Serenade” (featuring early R&B records) and “Negroes In "e News” (hosted 
by Tarea Hall Pittman, West Coast regional director of the NAACP and a pioneering women’s and civil rights activist)  
began showing up on the station’s schedule among the Italian, Portuguese and Spanish-language shows, and began taking 
up larger and larger blocks of time. By 1957, the KWBR schedule was dominated by R&B disc jockeys “Big Daddy” 
Don Barksdale, Bouncin’ Bill Doubleday and Bob Parker. 
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"e Oakland-born Barksdale was a considerable presence in the Eastbay throughout his life: not only as a radio and TV 
personality but as an entrepreneur who owned night clubs and a beer distributorship, promoted musical acts and records. 
He also happened to be the $rst African-American player to be named an all-star in the National Basketball Association 
in 1953, shortly after the league lifted its color barrier. 

Barksdale also won a gold medal as a member of the U.S. men’s basketball team at the 1948 Olympic Games in London, 
becoming the $rst black player to make the team and the $rst to win gold. Two years later, he made his television debut, 
presenting “Sepia Revue” on San Francisco’s nascent KRON-TV (Channel 4) while hosting his own nightly radio show 
on Oakland’s KROW (960 kc.). 

Bouncin’ Bill, who was born John William Doubleday, also played rhythm-and-blues records on KWBR – often 
covering lengthy daily shifts in the morning and afternoon, weekdays and weekends included – and promoted live shows 
at local clubs. 

What many listeners didn’t know, however, was that Bouncin’ Bill was actually a 
white man who, much like Jumpin’ George Oxford, his southern-born (and also 
white) counterpart at San Francisco’s KSAN (1450 kc.), simply loved R&B music. 

Both Barksdale and Doubleday were inducted into the Bay Area Radio Hall of Fame: 
“Big Daddy,” who passed away in 1993, was enshrined in 2007, while “Bouncin’ 
Bill,” who served as the station’s general manager in the early 1970s, entered 
BARHOF in 2011. (In addition, Barksdale was inducted into the Naismith 
Memorial Basketball Hall of Fame in 2012.) 

During more than a quarter century as “Lucky 13” KDIA, the station’s hip “Boss 
Soul” sound was guided  by an exceptional roster of air talent that included Chuck 
“Buggs” Scruggs, Bob Jones, Johnny Morris, Sly Stone (before he became even more 
famous as leader of "e Family Stone), John Hardy, Bill Hall, Bob White, Rosko 
(William Roscoe Mercer), Roland Porter, Wally Ray, Brother Louis Freeman (who was the station’s news director and 

hosted gospel music programs on KDIA), Sam Skinner, Marlon Scott (Alonzo Miller), Barry 
Pope, Alvin John Waples, Lady P.J. Ballard, Doug Cass and Al Moreland. 

As former R&B competitor KSAN began to fade, even the stalwart Jumpin’ George Oxford 
(BARHOF ’06) eventually crossed the Bay to become KDIA’s morning man. 

But the most notable of KDIA’s many stars was Belva Davis, who, after several years as a 
young print journalist for local black publications, began her radio career as the only female 
voice on the air at KSAN, then moved to KWBR as tra&c manager in its advertising 
department – a role she quickly parlayed into her own one-hour “women’s show” on 
weekdays, with a two-hour edition on Saturdays. 

From that humble start, Miss Davis embarked on a legendary career that included anchoring 
the news on KPIX-TV (Channel 5) and KRON-TV, and hosting the weekly “"is Week In 
Northern California” on KQED-
TV (Channel 9). In addition to 

being elected into the Bay Area Radio Hall of Fame in 2007, 
she was inducted into the National Academy of Television Arts 
and Science’s Gold Circle in 2013 in recognition of her $fty 
years of distinguished work in local TV. 

The Origin Story: 6XAM 

"e Oakland-based Warners didn’t intend originally to become 
pioneers in the wireless business, nor did they intend to build a 
station to primarily serve black listeners; instead, they were 
quite content to run their family’s grocery and mercantile store. 

George Oxford circa 1958. 

Belva Davis (KDIA). 

Belva Davis with another on air personality, Jeannie Blevins. 
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However, as the %edgling and almost-entirely experimental radio “hobby” began to blossom as World War I ended, Sta# 
and Eugene couldn’t help but becoming intrigued. 

"ey began by building their own simple wireless receivers – “radios,” such as they were – then branched out to building 
small, primitive transmitting devices from plans shared in hobbyist magazines; those early works led them to setting up a 
few shelves in the family store with radio parts, which led, in turn, to their decision to build their own amateur radio 
station, which became licensed as 6XAM in 1920. 

On September 21, 1921, the Warners made their $rst voice transmissions over 6XAM, which impelled them to take the 
next big step. By this time, the Radio Division of the Department of Commerce had already begun issuing its $rst 
handful of licenses for commercial broadcasting; by the end of 1921, a total of 25 of the licenses would be issued, with 
seven of them going to stations in the Bay Area. 

As 1921 came to a close and 1922 began, the Warners began piecing together a new, more substantial station at the First 
Baptist Church at 2201 Telegraph Avenue in Oakland, near their family store. Satis$ed that their facility was ready to 
take to the airwaves, they applied to the Radio Division and were granted a limited commercial broadcast license on 
Friday, March 10, 1922, along with being assigned KLS as their callsign. 

"e Warner brothers wasted no time, putting KLS on the air immediately with a brief and impromptu welcoming 
program sent out via their 250-watt scratch-built transmitter, operating at 360 meters – the single wavelength assigned to 
all commercial stations in the United States at that time. 

By July 1922, KLS had embarked on a regular schedule of programs and opened an auxiliary studio in the San Francisco 
Daily News building across the Bay, o#ering daily bulletins with the latest news. Still sharing the single broadcast channel 
with other local stations in January 1924 at 360 meters (about 833 kiloHertz on today’s AM radio dial), KLS operated 
from 11:30 a.m. until 1 p.m. on Sundays, and from 8 to 9 p.m. on Fridays. 

Later in 1924, KLS was assigned to a “Class A” frequency at 1190 kilocycles, then was moved to 1200 kilocycles early in 
1926. Owing to $nancial constraints, the station reduced its operating schedule in 1927 to one broadcast: the Sunday 
morning church services of the First Baptist Church – an easy enough program to put on the air, as it emanated from the 
same edi$ce that housed its transmitter. 

By June 1927, KLS was moved to 1220 kilocycles by the Federal Radio Commission – 
which had been spun o# from the Department of Commerce – then was given the 1440 
kc. spot in the FRC’s nationwide frequency reallocations in November 1928. As the year 
ended, Sta#ord Warner took on an expanded role in managing the station, returning it 
to an extended broadcasting schedule. 

He would guide KLS through the Depression years, during which many other small 
hobbyist-built stations across the United States fell silent, and the station not only 
survived but became a sustainable enterprise; so much so that Sta# had plans drawn up 
for a “Radio Village” at 327 21st Street in Oakland, just o# Harrison Street – a $30,000 
enclave of eleven rustic 
“cottages” intended for 
retail businesses as well 
as the new, modern 
studios of KLS. 

In November 1936, the 
renamed Federal 
Communications 
Commission granted a 
construction permit 
allowing KLS to move 
its facilities to the 
proposed Radio Village, 

KLS QSL cards. Above from 1935, on the right from 1944. 
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which would also house the station’s new 179-foot Blaw-Knox 
transmitter tower, from which it would broadcast its 250-watt signal 
from yet another new frequency, 1280 kilocycles. 

On March 15, 1937, KLS began transmitting from the new facility, 
then welcomed the public with a gala grand opening on Saturday, 
April 10, 1937, hosted by new KLS production manager Wellington 
Morse. Tributes were presented by other Bay Area radio stations, 
including the local NBC stations, KPO and KGO; the Columbia 
network’s new a&liate, KSFO; plus KFRC, KLX, KGGC, KYA, 
KROW and KRE. Visitors were invited to tour the KLS studios and 

the retail shops, 
which included 
a beauty salon, furniture store, a dry cleaner, a tea room and, of 
course, a radio parts and supply store. 

Wellington Morse was an old hand in the industry upon his arrival 
at KLS. Morse had immersed himself in radio since his youthful days 
with experimental 6XAK and commercial KFWH, which he built in 
Chico, Calif., his hometown, back in the 1920s. He would remain at 
the Warner brothers’ station in Oakland through the early 1950s. 

In the major NARBA Treaty frequency reallocations of March 1941, 
under which nearly every AM station shifted its dial position, KLS 
found its $nal resting place at 1310 kilocycles. By the end of the 
year, KLS added another 26 feet to its transmitter tower, capping it 
at 205 feet above Radio Village, while raising its power to 1,000 
watts and instituting an around-the-clock schedule, becoming one of 
the $rst stations in Northern California to broadcast 24 hours a day. 

On May 8, 1955, the station’s co-founder and longtime guiding 
spirit, Sta#ord Warner, died at the age of 63. In the ensuing months 
following his brother’s death, Eugene Warner assumed control of the 
station, then soon made plans to sell it; after $elding several o#ers, 
the station was placed in trust in 1958, pending its sale to the 
Sonderling stations group. 

KLS Radio Brochure cover on left , interior on the right. 

KLS invitation (1937). 

KDIA announcement (9/4/1959). 
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Sonderling embarked on numerous improvements to 
KDIA’s physical plant, most notably abandoning the 
aging Radio Village studio and transmitter 
facility in downtown Oakland and moving to a 
new site adjacent to the Bay Bridge Toll Plaza. 
"e move was accompanied by a $ve-fold 
increase in KDIA’s power to 5,000 watts. 

("e old Radio Village was soon razed and a 
parking garage for nearby Kaiser Center was 
erected on the site.) 

The Grand Finale: KDIA 

Although the 1960s and 1970s found KDIA at its height, the onset of 
the 1980s found it moving past its prime. On March 25, 1980, 
KDIA, its Memphis sister station WDIA and the other Sonderling 
properties became part of the vast stable of outlets owned by Viacom 
International in a $32-million merger. 

"ree years later, in December 1983, Viacom disposed of both KDIA 
and WDIA, selling them to the lawyer and media entrepreneur Ragan 
Henry in a deal valued at $24.5-million; Henry, in turn, one year 
later transferred control of KDIA to Adam Clayton Powell III, son of 
the fabled New York congressman. 

On Monday, December 10, 1984, at 9 p.m., after a long on-air 
farewell, KDIA and its popular R&B format left the airwaves, 
replaced by new KFYI call letters, from new studios at 100 Swan Way 
in Oakland, with a fresh all-news format that put it in direct 
competition with the two local powerhouse news outlets, KCBS and 
KGO. 

It didn’t last. On April 9, 1985, after only four months on the air and 
with ownership unable to make payroll and in default on a $4-million 
loan from Aetna Insurance, KFYI fell silent. In July 1985, the FCC 
granted permission to Henry to revive the station as KDIA; it 
returned to air with an “Urban MOR” format in October of the same 
year. 

For several years, KDIA clambered along, playing “Hits ‘n’ Oldies” 
aimed at the audience which had grown up with the station. Henry 
defaulted on his loan from Aetna in 1992, and the station was sold for 
$1.6-million in November of that year to a group of investors led by 
California State Assembly speaker (and future San Francisco mayor) 
Willie Brown and then-Oakland mayor Elihu Harris. 

Brown and Harris moved KDIA to new studios at 384 Embarcadero 
West in Oakland; it remained there after being sold yet again in June 
1995 to James Gabbert, who had previously owned San Francisco’s 
landmark K101 AM and FM and, at the time, owned KOFY (1050 
kHz.) in San Mateo. Having paid $3-million for KDIA, Gabbert 
instituted several improvements, switching the station to AM Stereo 
and boosting its power to 20,000 watts – all the better to hear its 
“Urban Oldies” music format. 

KDIA studios at the Bay Bridge Toll Plaza (circa early 1970s). 

KDIA promo sheet (circa  1960s). 

KDIA music survey (10/4/1963). 
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"is, too, would not last. Gabbert agreed to sell KDIA 
to ABC for $6.25-million in December 1997, with 
the station becoming KMKY – “K-Mickey” – to go 
with its new satellite-fed Radio Disney children’s 
format. (It is a widely-held belief that the personable 
Gabbert also had regular guest-hosting appearances on 
ABC’s powerhouse KGO [810 kHz.] written into the 
sale agreement.) 

In the past few years, while still bearing the KMKY 
call letters, the former KDIA became the property of 
the a&liated Akal Broadcasting and Radio Punjab, 
which has operated the station since 2015 as “Radio 
Mirchi, "e Spice of Life,” via its studios in Milpitas. 

And what about the old KDIA call letters? Since 
1998, when they were discarded from the 1310 spot 
on the AM dial, they have resided on 1640 kHz., on 
the Christian Talk station operated by Baybridge 
Communications in nearby Richmond, California. 

' 

David Jackson is the founder and executive director emeritus of the Bay Area Radio Museum and Hall of Fame, and a 
member of the board of directors of the Broadcast Legends, based in San Francisco.  

KDIA coverage map (circa 1970). 

KDIA music survey (June 1966). 
KDIA music survey (Dec. 1973). 


